
UM TED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

Case No. 22-20516-CR-W K LIAM S

UM TED STATES OF AM ERICA

VS.

QUICK TRICKS AUTOMOTIVE
PERFORM ANCE, INC.,

Defendant./
j.-'

PLEA AGREEM ENT

The United States Attorney's Oftke for the Southern District of Florida Cthis Office''l and
p 

'

QUICK TRICKS. AUTOMOTIVE PERFO CE, INC. (hereinafter the I'defendant'' or
. 

'

EGouick Tricks'') enter into the following plea agreement pursuant to Rule 1 1 of the Federal Rules .

of Criminal Procedgre.

1. Guilty Plea

A. The defendant agrees to plead guilty to the one-count Information filed against it

which charges that the defendant did willfully, with the intent to further the object of the

conspiracy, and knowingly combine, conspire, confederate, and Mgree with each other, and with

other persons both lcnown and unknown to this Offce, to commit an offense agiinjt thç laws of

the United States, namely to knowingly, tamper with, and assist in tampering with, and render

inacctlrate any monitoring device and method required to be maintained and followed under the

Clean Air Act, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371 and Title 42, United States

Code, Section 7413(c)(2)(C). '
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B. The defendant agrees to admit that it is in fact guilty of the offense charged in the

Nv

Information xafld that the attached Joint Factual Statement dated xthis sam e day is an accurate

statement of its conduct.

II. Corporate Authorization and Orcanizational Chapaes

The defendant will provide written evidence in the form of a notarized resolution

of the Board of Directors with both noàry and corporate seals, certifying that Quick Tricks is

authorized to plead guilty to the i-elony offense set forth in the Information, and to enter into and.

comply with all provisions of this plea agreement. The resolujion shall further certify that its

M anager is authorized to take these actions and that all corporate formalities required for such'

authorization have been observed. The defendant agrees that its M anger, Vivian M achado, shall

appear on behalf of the company to enter the guilfy plea and for imposition of the sentence in the

United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida.

B. In consideration of the undertakings herein, Quick Tricks expressly agrees that it

shall not, tlzrough a business transaction of any type, including but not lim ited to, a change of

name, business reorganization, sale or purchase of assets, divestiture of assets, or any sim ilar

action, seek to avoid the obligations and conditions set forth in this plea agreement. This plea

h ith al1 of the obligations and terms tàereof, shall inure to the benèfit of 'andagreement, toget er w

bind assignees, successors-in-interest, or transferçes of the defendant.

111. Sentencing Guidelines and Penalties

A. The defendant is aware that the sentence will be imposed by the Court after

considering the advisory Federal Sentencing Guidelines and Policy Stptements (hereinaAer

Stsentencing Guidelines''). The defendant acknowledges and understands that the Court will
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' 

.compute 'an advisory sentence under the Sentencing Guidelipes and that the applicable guidelines

will be determined by the Court relying in pal4 on the results of a pre-sentçnce investigation by the

Court's probation office, which investigation will commence after the.guilty plea has been çntered.

The defendant is also aware that, under certain circum stances, the Court may depart from the

adyisory sentencing guideline range that it has computed, and may raise or lowzr that advisory

sentence under the Sentencing Guidelines. The defendant is further aware and understands that

the Court i: required to consider the advisory guideline range determ ined under the Sentencing

Guidelines but is riot bound to impose that sentence; the Court is permitted to tailor the ultimate

sentence in light of other statutory concerns, and such sentence may be either m ore severe or less

severe than the Sentencing 'Guidelines' advisory range. Knowing these facts, the defendant

understands and acknowledges that the Court has the authority to impose any sentence within and

up to the statutory maximum authorized by law for the offense identified in Section 1.A and that

the defendant m ay not withdraw the plea solely as a result of the sentence imposed.

The defendant also understands and acknowledges that the Sentencing Guidelines

advisory provisions relating to the sentencing of organizations (Chapter Eight) do not apply to the

imposition of fines for environmental crimes such as those charged in the Information. See

Sentencing Guidelin'es Section 8C2.1 (Commentary-Background). The parties agree that the

statutory maximum amount of the Gne to be imposed under the statm e charged in Count 1 is the

greatest of: $500,000, Title 18, United States Code, Section 3571(c)(5), or twice the gross

pecuniary gain or gross loss resulting from the offense, pursuant to Titlé 18, United States Code,

Section 3571(d). The defendant also understands that it may be subject to a term of probation of

not more than 5ve years with respect to Count 1. Title 18, United States Code, Section 3561(c)(1)
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and (2). The defendant further understands the Court may order restitution to any ascertainable

victim of the offense conduct pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3663 and

Sentencing Guidelines Section SEI.I.

c. The defendant further understands and acknowledges that, in addition to any

sentence imposed, a special assessment in the amount of $400.00 will be imposed on the defendani

with respect to Count 1, payable to the Kclerk, United States District Court'' at the time of
*..-

sentencing. Title 18, United States Code, Section 3013(a).

This Office reservés the right to inform the Court and the probation oftk e of a1l

facts pertinent to the sentencing process, including all relevant information toncerning the offense

committed, whether charged, as well as concerning the defendant and the defendant's background.'

Subjeçt only to the express terms of any agreed-upon sentencing recommendations contained in

this plea agreement, this Oftice further reserves the right to m ake any recommendations as to the

quality and quantity of punishm ent.

The defendant is aware that the sentence has not yet been determined by the Court.

The defendant also is aware that any estimate of the probable sentencing range or sentence that the

defendant may receive, is a prediction, not a promise, and is not binding on this Office, the

jrobation office, or the Court. The defendant further understands that any recommendation that

this Office makes to the Court as to sentencing, whether pursuant to this plea agreement or

otherwise, ij not binding on the Court and the Court may disregard the recommendation in its

entirety! The defendant understand.s and acknowledges, as previously acknowledged in Section

III.A. above, that the defendant may not withdraw its plea based upon the Court's dewcision not to

accept a sentencing recommendation made by the defendant, this Office, or a recommendation

4
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made jointly by b0th the defendant and this Offce.

lV. Sentence Recommendation

This Office and the defendant agree that, although not binding on the probgtion office or

l the court, they willjointly recommend to the Coult that under the advisory Sentencing Guidelines,

the following tindings and conclusions wouldcorrectly represent thecalculation of a.reasonable

and appropriate sentence. Further, neither party shall adopt nor argueany position with respect

to sentencing in this matter contrary tothe following recommendations:

A. The parties agree to recommend that the defendant be placed on organizational

probation for a period of three years;

B. The parties agree to recommend, as a specialcondition of probation, that Quick

Tricks agrees to place a full-page public apology in the Specialty Equipment

Market Association (tûSEMA'') trade association printed and online publication at

the 2023 Automotive Aftermarket Industry W eqk SEM A Show, as well as in a 2023

edition of Car and Driver. The content, including any substitution of publication,

must be approved by EPA with 3o-days' notice.

The parties reserve the right to argue at sentencing on an appropriate criminal fine

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 3571 and in consideration of the

factors enum erated in Title 18, United States Code, Section 3572.

Additional Liability

This Office agrees that in ret'urn for the defendant's representations and tmdertakings in

this agreement, this Oftk e will not tsle additional criminal charges against it hl the Southem

District of Florida for violations associated with Clean Air Act tampering and related offenses, as
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of the date of the signing of this plea agreement. This plea agreement does notprovide orpromise

any waiver of any other crim inal, civil, or administrative actions that may apply, including but not

limited to: fines, penalties, claims for damages to natural resoumes, suspension, debarment, listing,

licensing, injunctive relief, or remedial action to comply with any applicable regulatory

requirem ent.

VI. Express W aiver of Right to Appeal Guilty Plea and Sentence

The defendant is awarç that Title 28, Unitçd States Code, Section 1291 and Title 18, United

States Code, Section 3742 affords the defendant the right to appeal the sentence iGposed in this

case. Acknowledging this, in exchange for the undertakings made by the United States in this

plea agreem ent, the defendant hereby waives all rights conferred by Sections 1291 and 3742 to

appeal any sentence imposed, including any restitution order, or to appeal the manner in which the

sentence was imposed, unless the sentence exceeds the maximum permitted by stattlte or is the

result of an upward departure and/or a variance from the advisory guidelihe range that the Court

establishes at sentencing. The defendant further understands that nothing in this agreem ent shall

affect the governm ent's right and/or duty to appeal as set forth in Title 18, United States Code,

Section 3742(b) and Title 28, United States Code, Section 1291. However, if the United States

appeals the defendant's sentence pursuant to Section 37421) and 1291, the defendant shall be

released from the above waiver of its appellate rights.

By signing this agreement, the defendant acknowledges that the defendant has discussed

the appeal waiver set forth in this agreem ent with the defendant's astorney. The defendant further

agrees, together with this Om ce, to request that the Court enter a specitk  finding that the

defendant's waiver of its right to appeal the sentence imposed in this case and its right to appeal

6
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its conviction in the m anner described above was knowing and voluntary.

V1l. Bindinz Final Ar eement

This is the entire agreement and understanding between.

'

this Office and the defendant.

There are no other agreements, prom ises, represbntations, or understandings.

Respectfully submitied,

an/n'oA'rs: 11

M ARKENZY LAPOINTE
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

(a otBy:
) Jo A . M azer
Special Assistant Uniied States Attorney

By :

By :

jREPRES TIVE D FENDANT

Jo sEpld xs A ,uM E s Q .
ATTO Y FOR DEFENDANT

QUICK TRICKS UTOMOTIVE
PMRFORMANUE, C.

DEFENDANT -
BY VIVIAN M ACHADO, M ANAGER

ov s: / è? a

/)c vaDATE:
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